6223603

Supreme Court Case No. S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA



SUPREME COURT FILED

CLEVELAND NATIONAL FOREST FOUNDATION; SIERRA CLUB; CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY; CREED-21: JAN **06** 2015 AFFORDABLE HOUSING COALITION OF SAN DIEGO; PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Cross-Appellants and Respondents,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

v.

SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS; SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS BOARD OF DIRECTORS,

Appellants and Cross-Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

OF SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District Division One Case No. D063288

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents fundamental issues as to how greenhouse gas emissions – the cause of climate change – are evaluated and mitigated under the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA"). There is no question that climate change is the most important environmental issue of our time. The majority decision below, however, essentially disregards all existing legal authority on the subject, overrules the state CEQA Guidelines specifically adopted to address evaluation of greenhouse gas emissions, disregards the state's adopted strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and elevates a Governor's executive order to the level of a policy mandate binding on all local, regional, and state agencies, and apparently on the Legislature itself. In this case, the majority would require an analysis of a regional transportation plan's "consistency" with the long-term (year 2050) statewide reduction goals of the executive order, even though the regional plan must itself be reviewed and updated every four years, and neither the Legislature nor any state regulatory agency have yet established goals for reduction of greenhouse gas emissions through regional transportation planning past the year 2035. As the dissent correctly states, the majority's "insinuation of judicial power into the environmental planning process and usurping of legislative prerogative is breathtaking." (Dissenting Opinion ("Dissent"), p. 9.) The majority's decision on other issues also demonstrates a breathtaking disregard of basic principles governing the standards of judicial review for claims concerning CEQA mitigation measures, project alternatives, programmatic environmental impact reports, and environmental impact analysis.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Greenhouse gas impacts.
- a. May a governor's executive order constitute binding state policy with which any entity, other than a state agency, must comply?
- b. Is a lead agency analyzing greenhouse gas impacts in an environmental impact report ("EIR") required to include an analysis of consistency with long-range statewide emission reduction goals stated in Executive Order S-03-05, or may the lead agency rely on factors specified in the state CEQA Guidelines?
- c. When the Legislature has directed a state agency such as the state Air Resources Board ("ARB") to set specific standards for reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, may the courts override that delegation of authority by requiring public agencies to utilize different standards?
 - 2. Mitigation of greenhouse gas impacts.
- a. What evidentiary standards and burden of proof principles govern challenges to an EIR's discussion of mitigation measures for greenhouse gas emissions? May an EIR be found invalid for failure to include mitigation measures that were never shown to be potentially feasible based on evidence in the record?
- b. What standards of feasibility, enforceability, and permissible deferral of detail apply to mitigation measures for greenhouse gas emissions in a program EIR?
- c. May an EIR be found inadequate for failure to discuss mitigation measures that are actually already included in substance in the proposed project?

3. May reviewing courts relieve petitioners in CEQA litigation from the consequences of waiver or abandonment of issues in the trial court, in view of CEQA's statutory policies demanding prompt resolution of CEQA claims?

Depending upon its decision on the previous issue, the Court may also address the following issues:

- 4. What standards govern analysis of air quality related health impacts or other impacts in a first tier program-level EIR? (Public Resources Code § 21093.)¹ Is the lead agency required to produce *all* information currently available on projects included in the program, or may the lead agency focus on program-level issues and defer detailed analysis of localized, project-level impacts and mitigation measures until later stages of environmental review?
 - 5. Project Alternatives.
- a. May an EIR be held inadequate for failure to discuss a potential alternative that focuses on one single factor (in this case, "vehicle miles travelled") contributing to environmental effects?
- b. Is a petitioner asserting that an EIR fails to discuss an adequate range of alternatives required to specifically identify additional potential alternatives and provide evidence that they are potentially feasible and would actually reduce environmental impacts?
- 6. May an EIR be found inadequate based on minor technical errors or omissions in supporting computer data, regardless of a lack of

¹ All further statutory citations herein are to the Public Resources Code unless otherwise noted. All references to the "Guidelines" are to the state CEQA Guidelines codified in Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations, § 15000 *et seq*.

evidence showing that alleged errors substantially affected the EIR's analysis?

III. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

This case involves the EIR certified by the San Diego Association of Governments ("SANDAG") for a Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy ("RTP/SCS"). The RTP/SCS was the first in California to meet the requirements of Senate Bill 375 ("SB 375"), which requires regional transportation plans to include a "Sustainable Communities Strategy" that will meet state-mandated targets for per capita reduction of greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions from light vehicles. (Gov. Code § 65080(b)(2).) The EIR was challenged by various private petitioners, subsequently joined by the Attorney General. The trial court found in favor of the petitioners on two issues (sections IV and V below) and did not address other issues raised by the petitioners. After SANDAG appealed, the petitioners and Attorney General cross-appealed on three additional issues (sections VII-IX below). On November 24, 2014, a split court of appeal affirmed the judgment with directions to grant petitioners additional relief on the cross-appeal. (Attachment A.) The court entered an Order denying SANDAG's petition for rehearing on December 16, 2014. The Order modifies the decision to include substantive additional information in the dissenting opinion. (Attachment B.)

IV. EXECUTIVE ORDER S-03-05 IS NEITHER A LEGALLY REQUIRED NOR TECHNICALLY APPROPRIATE STANDARD FOR MEASURING THE SIGNIFICANCE OF LOCAL AND REGIONAL GHG IMPACTS

The gravest error in the majority decision is its holding that an EIR must utilize "consistency" with former Governor Schwarzenegger's Executive Order S-03-05 ("EO S-03-05") as a baseline or standard for evaluating the significance of GHG impacts. (Majority Opinion ("Majority"), pp. 12-20.) This decision is clearly far-reaching. Given that virtually every kind of project imaginable will have some effect on GHG emissions, the majority's rationale would make this "consistency" analysis mandatory for practically every EIR. Since the decision also sets a radically new significance standard based on long-term GHG *reductions*, it may well preclude the use of negative declarations or mitigated negative declarations even for projects that have minimal GHG impacts. (§ 21080(c).) The decision also effectively overrules the existing state CEQA Guidelines governing analysis of GHG impacts and creates hopeless inconsistency in the existing case law.

The best arguments for review and overturning of the majority decision are found in the thorough and strongly worded dissenting opinion. (Dissent, pp. 1-30.) SANDAG will expand on just a few of these points.

A. The Decision, Background Law and Facts

As the dissent recognizes, active state efforts to reduce GHG emissions began early in this century. (Dissent, pp. 12-13.) In 2005, then-Governor Schwarzenegger promulgated EO S-03-05. EO S-03-05 did two things: (1) declared, in one short sentence, a goal of reducing *statewide* GHG

emissions to 1990 levels by 2020, and to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050; (2) designated the heads of various state agencies, now known as the governor's Climate Action Team, to coordinate executive branch efforts to achieve these goals. (AR 319:27049-27050.)

In 2006, the Legislature enacted The Global Warming Solutions Act, generally known as AB 32, which directed ARB to devise an actual state strategy for reducing GHG emissions to 1990 levels by 2020. (Health & Saf. Code, § 38500 et seq.) The resulting ARB "Scoping Plan" establishes statewide GHG reduction targets for each of some 18 individual programs. (AR 319:26120-26205.)

With respect to CEQA, the Legislature directed the state Natural Resources Agency – a member of the Climate Action Team – to develop CEQA Guidelines for mitigation of GHG impacts. (§ 21083.05.) Guidelines § 15064.4, discussed below, was a result of this process. The ARB, another member of the governor's Climate Action Team, also developed unofficial draft guidelines for CEQA review of GHG impacts. (AR 320:27783-27804.) Neither Guidelines § 15064.4 nor the ARB draft guidelines contain any mention of EO S-03-05 as a standard for measuring GHG impacts.

The EIR in this case analyzed GHG impacts utilizing three separate criteria drawn directly from Guidelines § 15064.4. (AR 8a:2567-2588; Majority, pp. 20-21.) Under criterion GHG-1, the EIR conducted a traditional CEQA existing-conditions baseline analysis, i.e., compared projected GHG emissions through 2050 (33.65 MMT) to emissions in 2010 (28.85 MMT). Criterion GHG-2 measured projected vehicle emissions against the regional GHG reduction goals established pursuant to SB 375, i.e., the targets specifically mandated by law for the RTP/SCS. Under

criterion GHG-3, the EIR analyzed the project's consistency with the state Scoping Plan and SANDAG's own adopted Climate Action Strategy. (Guidelines § 15064.4(b)(3); AR 8a:2581-2588.)

The EIR concluded that although the RTP/SCS was fully consistent with the SB 375 goals, the Scoping Plan, and the SANDAG Climate Action Strategy, GHG impacts were significant under criterion GHG-1. The EIR therefore includes a discussion of mitigation measures for GHG emissions. (AR 8a:2588-2591.)

The majority below found that notwithstanding its 39 pages of analysis of GHG impacts under three significance criteria, the EIR was inadequate for failure to include a further analysis of "consistency" with EO S-03-05. (Majority, pp. 12-20.) The dissent strongly disagreed. (Dissent, pp. 1-30.)

B. The Majority Opinion Fundamentally Misstates the Legal Effect and Actual Intended Purpose of the Executive Order

Perhaps the most unique aspect of the majority decision is that it elevates a governor's executive order to hitherto unprecedented status. According to the majority, EO S-03-05 not only provides a mandatory standard for CEQA review, but, as stated in another recent decision by the same court, constitutes binding state policy with which local governments must "comply." (Majority, pp. 12-14; *Sierra Club v. County of San Diego* (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 1152 (petition for review pending).) In California, however, the Legislature establishes public policy. (*Green v. Ralee Engineering Co.* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 66, 80; *Santa Ana Hospital Medical Center v. Belshe* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 819, 836; Dissent, pp. 2-8.) Absent some express delegation of authority from the Legislature, an executive order

is binding only as to executive officers and agencies under the Governor's control, and then, only to the extent consistent with applicable laws. (*Lukens v. Nye* (1909) 156 Cal. 498, 501-502; 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 583 (1980).) No court has ever previously construed the laws of California to confer general policy-making powers on the Governor. As the dissent painstaking establishes, the Legislative branch has decisively taken the helm in directing state climate policy and, more important, establishing the concrete actions to be taken in response. (Dissent, pp. 12-17.) It is not the province of the courts to substitute their judgment as to which climate action policies and which measuring criteria local and regional governments should utilize.

Beyond this, the majority appears to badly misconstrue the intent of EO S-03-05 itself. Even the state agencies directly charged by EO S-03-05 with responsibility for pursuing its goals have not construed EO S-03-05 as establishing a standard for implementation of local or regional GHG reduction efforts. This is clearly evident in the Scoping Plan, the CEQA Guidelines promulgated by the Natural Resources Agency, and ARB's draft guidelines. These state agencies are not only the best qualified to consider the technical feasibility and actual practical value of using EO S-03-05 as a significance standard, but also to know whether EO S-03-05 was ever *intended* for this purpose.

Even were EO S-03-05 deemed to establish an "overarching goal" for the state (Majority, p. 14), it does not follow that local or regional progress towards that goal should be measured against a statewide standard. By way of analogy, California has very strong statewide policies in favor of developing affordable housing for citizens of all income levels. (Gov. Code, § 65580.) Local and regional progress toward that goal, however, is

achieved through a system of detailed allocations to city and county governments that must be reflected in the housing element of each jurisdiction's general plan. (Gov. Code, §§ 65583-65584.3.) As the dissent recounts, the Legislature and the governor's Climate Action Team have taken a similar course in establishing reasonable goals for various sectors of the government through the Scoping Plan, SB 375, and other measures. (Dissent, pp. 11-17.) The Scoping Plan provides that the great bulk of statewide GHG reductions will be accomplished through state-level planning or legislative measures, such as conversion to clean energy sources, building efficiency standards, and new vehicle fuel and efficiency standards. (See Association of Irritated Residents v. California Air Resources Bd. (2012) 206 Cal. App. 4th 1487, 1489-1492.) Regional transportation planning measures, in contrast, were expected to reduce statewide emissions by 5 million metric tons (MMT), or less than 3% of the statewide target of 174 MMT in reductions. (AR 319:26155, 26159, 26185-26189.) Regional contributions to this 3% share are to be achieved through the Sustainable Communities Strategy in each RTP/SCS. (Gov. Code, § 65080(b)(2)(A).) The majority, however, would apparently require every local or regional agency to account for 100% of the GHG emission reductions necessary in its area, regardless of its obvious inability to unilaterally achieve these reductions, and regardless of its actual role in the state strategy.

C. The Majority Opinion Conflicts With CEQA Guidelines § 15064.4 and Essentially Declares it Invalid

This Court has previously recognized that "courts should afford great weight to the Guidelines except when a provision is clearly unauthorized or erroneous." (Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of University of

California (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 391, fn. 2.) The Legislature has further provided that CEQA shall not be interpreted "in a manner which imposes procedural or substantive requirements beyond those explicitly stated in [CEQA] or in the state guidelines." (§ 21083.1 (emphasis added).)

Guidelines § 15064.4 was specifically adopted at the direction of the Legislature to guide analysis of GHG impacts. (§ 21083.05.) Guidelines § 15064.4(b) directs lead agencies to consider three specified factors "among others" when determining the significance of GHG impacts. The first factor is a comparison with existing conditions, i.e., the baseline approach required in almost all CEQA impact analysis. (Guidelines § 15064.4(b)(1); see Neighbors for Smart Rail v. Exposition Metro Line Const. Authority (2013) 57 Cal.4th 439, 448, 454-458.) Next, lead agencies should also consider any locally adopted thresholds of significance that may apply. (Guidelines § 15064.4(b)(2); see Guidelines § 15064.7.) Finally, lead agencies should consider "the extent to which the project complies with regulations or requirements adopted to implement a statewide, regional, or local plan for the reduction or mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions. Such requirements must be adopted by the relevant public agency through a public review process and must reduce or mitigate the project's incremental contribution of greenhouse gas emissions." (Guidelines § 15064.4(b)(3).)

The majority concluded that the permissive words "among others" in Guidelines § 15064.4(b) open the door to an apparently mandatory rule that an EIR *must* consider consistency with EO S-03-05 as a significance criterion, or be found legally inadequate. (Majority, p. 18.) This Court cannot countenance such verbal gymnastics. Guidelines § 15064.4(b)(3) is quite specific that the GHG reduction plans agencies must consider are plans

through a public review process. In other words, publicly adopted *action* plans that provide specific identifiable standards. EO S-03-05, unilaterally promulgated by the governor's office in 2005 without benefit of any public process (or CEQA review), obviously does not fit that description. It is impossible to believe that in promulgating Guidelines § 15064.4, the Natural Resources Agency – a member of the governor's own Climate Action Team – would not have explicitly referred to EO S-03-05 in Guidelines § 15064.4 if it intended EO S-03-05 to be among the "other" factors considered in weighing GHG impacts.

In reality, the majority decision is nothing less than a direct repudiation of Guidelines § 15064.4. The significance of this cannot be overstated. Public agencies throughout the state have, like SANDAG, relied in good faith on the Guidelines. So too, as discussed in the next section, have trial and appellate courts. The majority decision creates a hopeless conflict between what the Guidelines require and what the majority demands in analyzing GHG impacts.

D. The Majority Opinion Conflicts with Prior Decisions of the Courts of Appeal

The majority decision also conflicts with every other published appellate court decision concerning analysis of GHG impacts, including a prior decision from the same division of the Fourth Appellate District.

In Citizens for Responsible Equitable Environmental Development v. City of Chula Vista (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 327, 335-336, the Fourth District concluded that Guidelines § 15064.4 "confirms that lead agencies retain discretion to determine the significance of greenhouse gas emissions." The

court then specifically approved a GHG analysis based on consistency with AB 32.

In North Coast Rivers Alliance v. Marin Municipal Water District Board of Directors (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 614, 650-653, the court approved a significance standard that was based on a county-wide goal of reducing GHG emissions to 15% below 1990 levels by 2020. No consideration of longer-range GHG reduction goals was required.

In *Friends of Oroville v. City of Oroville* (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 832, 839-843, the court, applying Guidelines § 15064.4, approved a significance standard based on consistency with AB 32 and the Scoping Plan, but found that the respondent had misapplied these standards.

The majority in this case simply cannot be reconciled with the foregoing authorities, which tacitly reject use of EO S-03-05 as a significance standard, fully endorse the standards established in Guidelines § 15064.4, and specifically uphold reliance on the near-term reduction targets established under AB 32 or similar standards as a basis for evaluating GHG impacts. These decisions also fully support the dissent's refusal to demand speculative analysis of GHG impacts in future decades that have no legislatively adopted goals or standards yet. (Dissent, pp. 5-8.)

E. The Analysis Required by the Majority is Inherently Speculative and Inconsistent With Basic Principles Governing CEQA Review

As the dissent recognized, one of the great mysteries of the majority's holding is how "consistency" with EO S-03-05 can actually be analyzed. At a minimum, local agencies would be tasked with attempting to predict GHG emissions to the year 2050 and how they may be affected by future

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