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

SANDAG also claims that draft guidelines for CEQA review
prepared by CARB do not “contain any mention of EO S-3-05 as a standard
for measuring [greenhouse gas] impacts.” Petition:6. This assertion is
misleading at best. CARB’s draft guidelines specify that CEQA
significance thresholds “must be sufficiently stringent . . . to [put]
California on track to meet its interim (2020) and long-term (2050)
emissions reduction targets.” AR:320:27792 (emphasi.s added). Those
“long-term (2050)” targets, of course, were first articulated in the Executive

Order. CARB’s reference to those targets in its draft CEQA guidance only
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underscores the correctness of the Opinion’s conclusion that the Executive
Order’.s goals now “underpin(] all of the state’s current efforts to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions.” Opinion:14.

The dissent féars the Opinion “usurps the broad discretion” reserved
to lead agencies by CEQA Guidelines section 15604.4. Dissent:20. Again,
this concern is unwarranted. The Opinion recognizes that agencies retain
discretion to utilize the advisory, non-exclusive list of factors in CEQA
Guidelines section 15064.4. Opinion:18-19. However, it emphasizes tﬁat
agencies have never possessed discretion to produce misleading and
incomplete EIRs, and nothing in section 15604.4 modifies this core CEQA
principle. See Opinion:17-20.

3. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Prior Case
Law.

Both SANDAG and the diésent contend the Opinion conflicts with
appellate cases addressing CEQA analysis of greenhouse gas emissions.
See Petition:11-12 (citing Citizens for Responsible Equitable |
Environmental Development v. City of Chula Vista (2011) 197 Cal. App.4th
327; North Coast Rivers Alliance v. Marin Mun. Water Dist. (2013) 216
Cal.App.4th 614; Friends of Oroville v. City of Oroville (2013) 219
Cal.App.4th 832); see also Dissent:25-26.

No such conflict exists. None of these cases considered whether an

EIR for a long-range transportation plan that will increase greenhouse gas
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emissions through mid-century must analyze consistency with the science-
based emissions reduct‘ion goals underpinning California climate policy
over that same time frame. Accordingly, none of these cases could have
“tacitly reject[ed]” fhe Opinion’s conclusions (Petition:12), because none of
these cases confronted analogous facts or legal arguments. “It is axiomatic
that an opinion is not authority for an issue not considered therein.” Santa
Clara County Local Trans. Auth. v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 243.
A conflict does not arise every time an opinion applies settled law to a new
set of facts.

To the extent the cases cited by SANDAG.and the dissent contain
general language affirming agency discretion to determine the significance
of greenhouse gas emissions, there is still no conflict. The Opinion does not
hold that the Executive Order established a mandatory “threshold of
d signiﬁcance” for all CEQA purposes. Indeed, SANDAG retains discretion
to determine the significance of its Plan’s inconsistency with California’s
long-term climate goals, provided it does so in accordance with CEQA’s
informational requirements. The Opinion holds only that SANDAG lacks
discretion to ignore the inconsistency éltogether where doing so results in
an incomplete and misleading EIR. Again, this holding reflects long-settled

CEQA principles.
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4. The “Consistency” Analysis Required by the
Opinion Is Neither Speculative Nor Inconsistent
with CEQA Principles.

There is no “great myster[y]” (Petition:12) as to how the Plan’s
consistency with California’s long-term climate goals can be analyzed.
Although the dissent questions how SANDAG will calculate the region’s
“fair share” of 2050 emissions reductions (Dissent:6-7), SANDAG has
previously stated that this calculation is “easily performed.” SANDAG
Appellants’ Petition for Rehearing at 7; see also AR:216:17628 (Climate
Action Strategy chart showing regional emissions targets through 2050).
Thus, SANDAG readily could have conducted a meaningful analysis of its
Plan’s dramatic deviation from the 2050 target. SANDAG simply chose not
to do so, and its EIR therefore subverted informed consideration of the
Plan’s consequences—a result directly at odds with CEQA. See
Opinion:14-15, 19-20. Moreover, even if this calculation were difficult, this
would not relieve SANDAG of its responsibilities under CEQA. Laurel
Heights, 47 Cal.3d at 399 (“We find no authority that exempts an agency
from complying with the law, environmental or otherwise, merely because
the agency’s task may be difficult.”).
| Although it fails to develop the argument, SANDAG further
suggests the Opinion conflicts with this Court’s prior holding that agencies
should normally use existing environmental conditions as a “baseline” for

CEQA analysis. See Petition:13 (citing Communities for a Better
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Environment v. South Coast Air Quality Management Dist. (2010) 48
Cal.4th 310, 322). But nothing in the Opinion states that the Exeéutive
Order’s goals must be used as a CEQA “baseline”; indeed, the section of
the Opinion discussing greenhouse gas analysis does not use the word
“baseline” at all.

Finally, SANDAG’s speculation about the constitutionality of
theoretical mitigation measures and the future ability of other agencies to
issue negative declarations for unspecified hypothetical projects
(Petition:13) is just that—speculation. In any event, the Court’s fact-
specific analysis in no way sets a blanket rule for all future CEQA
documents, SANDAG’s rhetoric to the contrary notwithstanding. Once
again, SANDAG identifies no conflict or serious legal question warranting
this Court’s review.

II. The Court of Appeal’s Correct Ruling on Climate Change
Mitigation Does Not Merit This Court’s Review.

Although SANDAG’s climate change analysis was deficient, the
EIR did admit that the long-range Plan’s greenhouse gas emission impacts
would be significant. Yet, SANDAG adopted only three measures to
mitigate these impacts. The agency (1) committed to incorporate
greenhouse gas reduction policies into future plans, (2) suggested that other
agencies should adopt climate action plans, and (3) committed that

SANDAG will, and other agenc_:ies should, require best available
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‘technologies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions during construction and
operation of future projects. AR:8a:2588-90. The trial court held that these
measures merely “kick[ed] the can down the road” and fell “well short” of
CEQA'’s mitigation requirements. Joint Appendix (“JA”) JA:75:1057. The
court of appeal upheld this ruling, finding that SANDAG failed to consider
and adopt feasible and effective climate-related mitigation measures.

| Opinioﬁ:26-27. SANDAG now asks this Court to adjudicate the issue yet
again, without offering any reason why this Court’s review is necessary.
‘Indeed, SANDAG admits that “principles of [mitigation] law here are not
in dispute.” Petition:16.

A. The Opinion Properly Applies the Substantial Evidence
Test.

SANDAG claims the court of appeal dispensed with CEQA’s
substantial evidence test, but this mischaracterizes the Opinion. Petition:18.
Far from ignoring the substantial evidence test, the court of appeal
explicitly applied it. Opinion:27 (finding “there is not substantial evidence
to support SANDAG’s determination the EIR adequately addressed
mitigation for the transportation plan’s greenhouse g'as emissions
impacts.”). SANDAG also faults the Opinion for “summarily dismissing”
the EIR’s mitigation measures and “leap[ing] precipitously” to incorrect
conclusions. Petition:18. But SANDAG mistakes the Opinion’s conciseness

in addressing this issue—which merely reflects the absence of any
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substance in SANDAG's three mitigation measures—for lack of analytic
rigor. The measures were obviously inadequate, and the court of appeal
correctly found SANDAG’s defense of them unpersuasive.

The court cut to the heart of the issue by recognizing the disconnect
between the core goals in SANDAG’s Climate Action Strategy and the
agency’s failure to implement these goals in its Plan. Opinion:21, fn. 11. As
the court explained, the EIR’s meager climate mitigation fell far short of
facilitating the “fundamental changes in policy, technology, and behavior”
that SANDAG previously admitted were necessary in order to put the
region “on its way to doing its share for achieving the [Executive Order’s]
2050 greenho.use gas reduction level.” Opinion:21, fn. 11. Indeed, the
“mitigation” consisted principally of a commitment to yet another round of
future planning or to changes that SANDAG suggested other agencies
should implement. Unquestionably, CEQA demands more. Communities
for a‘Better Environment v. City of Richmond (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 70,
96 (emphatically rejecting deferral of climate mitigation); Citizens for
Quality Growth v. City of Mount Shasta (1988) 198 Cal. App.3d 433, 442,
fn. 8 (agency cannot avoid responsibility to mitigate project impacts by
pointing to potential action of another agency).

Accordingly, the Opinion’s holding that there was no substantial

evidence that the EIR analyzed and adopted effective, feasible mitigation is
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unsurprising in light of established CEQA principles. There is no reason for
this Court to disturb it.

B. ‘The Opinion Utilizes the Correct Burden of Proof and
Does Not Improperly Direct SANDAG?’s Discretion.

SANDAG also asserts that the Opinion ignores Petitioners’ alleged
burden to demonstrate that additional, specific mitigation measures are
feasible and effective. Petition:17-18. SANDAG misapprehends the lawr
established by this Court. It is “the public agency”—not the public—that
“bears the burden of affirmatively demonstrating that . . . the agency’s
approval of the proposed project followed meaningful consideration of
alternatives and mitigation measures.” Mountain Lion Found. v. Fish &
Game Com. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 105, 134. Moreover, in cases where
commenters do propose specific potentially feasible mitigation measures
that the lead agency chooses not to adopt, the agency has the burden of
demonstrating that such measures are infeasible. Los Angeles Unified
School Dist. v. City of LO;S‘ Angeles (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1019, 1029-30.

SANDAG claims that San Diego Citizenry Group v. County of San
Diego (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 1, 15-17 supports its position. See
Petition:17. However, the court there nowhere held that petitioners bear the
burden of both developing mitigation measures and producing evidence
that they are feasible and effective. Rather, the case involved a situation in

which an EIR already contained eleven mitigation measures, and the
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agency had found that other measures were infeasible because they would
conflict with the project’s core purpose. San Diego Citizenry Group, 219
Cal.App.4th at 8, 15-16. Although petitioners in the case had not suggested
other potentially feasible mitigation (id. at 15), the court did not task them
with doing so. It merely upheld the agency’s finding that no other
mitigation was 'feasible, and ruled that the EIR need not diséuss infeasible

~measures. Id. at 15-16.

Although they were not required to do so, Petitioners here actually
did propose specific mitigation measures and explained how those
measures were feasible and consistent with the Plan’s objectives. For
example, Petitioners and others repeatedly asked SANDAG to adopt a
transit-oriented development policy and provided the agency with an
exemplar. AR:320:27733-34, 28499-504; 185:12560.; 310:25210.

- Petitioners also requested adoption of a regional parking management
program to reduce driving, and thus greenhouse gas emissions.
AR:296:19682; 320:27731-32. Rather than 'adopting these measures or
demonstrating that they were infeasible, as CEQA requires (L.4. Unified,
58 Cal.App.4th at 1029-30), SANDAG raised a host of unconvincing
excuses for rejecting them.

For example, SANDAG claims that the measures suggested by
Petitioners might not be effective. Petition:17 (referring to Petitioners’

proposed measures as “nickel and dime” mitigation). The contention is
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specious. In fact, even though SANDAG refused to adopt a transit-oriented
development policy or a parking program in this RTP/SCS, the agency
committed to adopt them in the future as part of a different plan. AR:6:223;
8a:2102; 8b:3801. This commitment demonstrates that such policies are
feasible and that SANDAG believes they will be effective. Tellingly,
SANDAG has cited no evidence that it could not have adopted these key
measures in the RTP/SCS, as the public requested and as CEQA requires. |
City of Richmond, 184 Cal. App.4th at 95 (“the time to analyze the impacts
of the Project and to formulate mitigation measures . . . was during the EIR
process, béfore the Project was brought to the [lead agency] for final
approvél”)v(emphasis in original).

SANDAG also claims that, by identifying four examples of
additional mitigatiori measures that SANDAG could have considered, the
court of appeal improperly “substitut[ed] its own inexpert judgment for that
of qualified experts.” Petition:18. But SANDAG misreads the Opinion,
which expressly does not require SANDAG to consider, much less adopt,
the illustrative list of mitigation measures suggested by the court.
Opinion:24, fn. 14. The court was thus careful to abide by CEQA’s
prohibition on directing agencies to exercise their discretion in a particular
- manner. /d. (“We do not express any view on precisely how SANDAG
must remedy the analytical deficiencies identified in this opinion . . .”).

Further, SANDAG is wrong that the suggested measures are either already
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included in the Plan or were properly rejected as infeasible. Petition:18-19.
For example, the Plan expressly deferred formulation of a transit-oriented
development policy. AR:8a:2102. And, as explained above, SANDAG did
not find that parking management measures were infeasible, but rather
deferred adoption of such measures until a future plan.

In sum, it was incumbent on SANDAG to develop and adopt all
feasible mitigation measures to address the Plan’s serious climate impacts.
SANDAG chose not to do so. Again, the court of appeal’s ruling on this
issue is hardly Surprising, much less deserving of Supreme Court review.

C. This Court Need Not Review Issues Not Addressed by the
Court of Appeal.

Finally, SANDAG asks this Court to review mitigation-related
issues that it claims the court of appgal never addressed. Petition:19-20
(addressing issue of whether adopted mitigation was adequately
enforceable and included adequate performance standards). There is no
need for this Court to review these issues. First, because the Opinion did
not directly address whether the EIR’s adopted mitigation measures comply
with CEQA’s standards for enforceability, by definition it did not create a
conflict in the law that this Court should resolve.

Second, these claims do not raise issues of law important enough to
warrant this Court’s review. SANDAG agrees with Petitioners that agencies

may defer adoption of mitigation measures in a program-level EIR only
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when the “impacts or mitigation measures are not determined by the first-
tier épproval.” Petition:20 (quoting Vineyard Area Citizens for Responsible
Growth, Inc. v. City of Rancho Cordova (2007) 40 Cal.4th 412, 431); see
also section IV B, (discussing same standard). Application of this
undisputed standard to the facts of this case would present straightforward
issues of settled law. SANDAG offers no argument to the contrary, and
thus no reason for review.

III.  The Court of Appeal’s Discretionary Decision to Reach the
Remaining CEQA Issues Does Not Merit This Court’s Review.

SANDAG argues that the court of appeal erred in adjudicating the
CEQA ciaims raised in Petitioners’ cross-appeal, which SANDAG alleges
were forfeited. This Court need not review this question. SANDAG’s
forfeiture claim is baseless, and the court of appeal’s decision to reach the
remaining CEQA issues does not meet this Court’s standard for review.

Petitioners did not “seemingly abandon[]” their remaining CEQA
claims. Petition:20. Rather, they properly raised these claims through
extensive briefing to the trial court; no law required that Petitioners reiterate
them at oral argument, much less object to the trial court’s explicit decision

- not to reach them. See United Servs. Auto. Assn. v. Dalrymple (1991) 232
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Cal.App.3d 182, 185-86 (parties only need to object to tentative decisions
that are ambiguous).*

Moreover, the record shows that any such objections would have
been futile, as the trial judge unequivocally stated his intention to rule only
on the climate issues. JA:70:995. The law is clear that “[f]ailure to make a
futile objection or argument does not constitute waiver.” M.T. v. Superior
Court (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 1170, 1177. In short, Petitioners fully
presented these issues and never forfeited them.

Even if Petitioners had forfeited their claims, the coﬁrt of appeal did
not abuse its discretion by reaching them. See Williams, 17 Cal.4th at 161,
fn. 6 (an appellate court’s decision to reach forfeited claims “is entrusted to
its discretion”). SANDAG argues that the court’s decision undercuts

CEQA’s policy of quickly resolving CEQA claims (Petition:22, citiﬁg

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